## **Dissertationes Forestales 166**

Climatic sensitivity of hydrology and carbon exchanges in boreal peatland ecosystems, with implications on sustainable management of reed canary grass (*Phalaris arundinacea*, L.) on cutaway peatlands

Jinnan Gong

School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

### Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in auditorium N100 of the University of Eastern Finland, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu on 27<sup>th</sup> September at 12 o'clock noon.

*Title of dissertation*: Climatic sensitivity of hydrology and carbon exchanges in boreal peatland ecosystems, with implications on sustainable management of reed canary grass (*Phalaris arundinacea, L.*) on cutaway peatlands

Author: Jinnan Gong

Dissertationes Forestales166 http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.166

Thesis Supervisors: Prof. Seppo Kellomäki School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Prof. Kaiyun Wang Shanghai Key Laboratory of Urbanization and Ecological Restoration, East China Normal University, Shanghai, China

*Pre-examiners*: Doc. Kari Minkkinen University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Prof. Nigel T. Roulet McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Opponent: Doc Ari Laurén Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-421-8 (PDF)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-422-5 (paperback)

2013

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry at the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences at the University of Eastern Finland

*Editorial Office:* The Finnish Society of Forest Science P.O. Box 18, FI-01301 Vantaa, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes **Gong, J.** 2013. Climatic sensitivity of hydrology and carbon exchanges in boreal peatland ecosystems, with implications on sustainable management of reed canary grass (*Phalaris arundinacea, L.*) on cutaway peatlands. Dissertationes Forestales 166. 38p. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.166

### ABSTRACT

The aim of the study was to investigate the effects of climate change on soil hydrology and carbon (C) fluxes in boreal peatland ecosystems, with implications for the feasibility of cultivating reed canary grass (*Phalaris arundinacea, L*; RCG) as a way to restore the C sink in cutaway peatlands under Finnish conditions. *First*, hydrological models were developed for pristine peatland ecosystems and the cutaway peatlands under RCG cultivation. Concurrently, the hydrological responses to varying climatic forcing and mire types were investigated for these ecosystems. Thereafter, process-based models for estimating the seasonal and annual C exchanges were developed for the pristine mires and cutaway peatlands. The C models incorporated the hydrological models for corresponding ecosystems. Model simulations based on the climate scenarios (ACCLIM, developed by the Finnish Meteorological Institute, FMI) were further carried out to study the impacts of climate change on the C exchanges in the peatland ecosystems during the 21st century.

The simulation showed that the water table (WT) in the pristine Finnish mires would draw down slightly during the 21st century. Such a change in WT would be related to a decrease in the  $CO_2$  sink but an increase in the  $CH_4$  source at the country scale, as driven mainly by the rising temperature (Ta) and increasing precipitation (P). These changes in  $CO_2 / CH_4$  fluxes would decrease the total C-greenhouse gas (GHG) sink (CO<sub>2</sub> equilibrium) by 68% at the country scale, and the changes would be more pronounced toward the end of the century. The majority of pristine fens in southern and western Finland and the pristine bogs near the coastal areas would become centurial CO<sub>2</sub> sources under the changing climate. On the other hand, the major distribution of fens in northern Finland would act to increase the  $CH_4$  source at the country scale, whereas the  $CH_4$  emission would tend to decrease with WT in the southern and western areas of Finland. Peat extraction and RCG cultivation tends to limit the influence of WT on the root-zone moisture content in a peatland ecosystem, resulting in a high sensitivity of soil moisture content to the regularity of summer rainfall. However, the phenological cycle of RCG may represent an adaptive feature of photosynthesis to the stochasticity of summer precipitation. By the end of the 21st century, climate change will decrease the  $CO_2$  sequestration by 63% - 87% in a cutaway RCG peatland during a main rotation period of 12 years. Nevertheless, the site could sustain a net  $CO_2$  sink, which is comparable to the pristine peatlands in the same region.

**Keywords:** Boreal peatlands, climate change, ecosystem modeling, reed canary grass, carbon-water exchange

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded through the Finland Distinguished Professor Programme (FiDiPro) (2008-2012) of the Academy of Finland (Project No. 127299-A5060-06), which was coordinated by Prof. Seppo Kellomäki and Prof. Pertti Martikainen, University of Eastern Finland. The climate chamber system used in this work was funded by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) granted by the State Provincial Office of Eastern Finland. Furthermore, I obtained a grant from the Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC) and the Graduate School of Forest Sciences (GSForest) to cover the living expenses. Moreover, the School of Forest Sciences provided a grant for finalizing the thesis work. In addition, the laboratorial analysis of soil samples was funded by the Key Laboratory of Urbanization and Ecosystem Restoration (KLUER), Shanghai, China. I gratefully acknowledge all funding sources that supported this work.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my supervisors, Prof. Seppo Kellomäki and Prof. Kaiyun Wang, for their guidance, commitment and support throughout the research work. Prof. Heli Peltola and Prof. Pertti J. Martikainen are gratefully acknowledged for being the follow-up members for my study. I would like to give special acknowledgement to Dr. Narasinha J. Shurpali for constructive contributions in all articles and for help in data processing. Prof. Taneli Kolström, Mr. Matti Lemettinen, Mr. Risto Ikonen, Mr. Kari Huohvanainen and Mr. Alpo Hassinen at the Mekrijärvi Research Station are thanked for the technical support in using the climate chamber system. Special thanks are extended to all my colleagues, both at the University of Eastern Finland and at KLUER, for helps with the field experiments and the laboratory work.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my girlfriend, MSc. Linlin Sun, for her priceless love and support. I am especially grateful for my parents (Shuming Gong and Yufu Zhao) and all relatives for their continuous support. Last but not least, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Joni Lappalainen, Katinka Käyhkö and my Chinese friends in Joensuu for their kind support and the joyful time we spent together.

## LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is based on the following four articles, which will be referred by the Roman numerals I - IV in the text. Articles I - II are reprinted with the kind permission of the publishers or with the rights retained as author, while Articles III - IV are the author version of the manuscript.

- I Gong J., Wang K., Kellomäki S., Zhang C., Martikainen P.J., Surpali N. 2012. Modeling water table changes in boreal peatlands of Finland under changing climate conditions. Ecological Modelling 244: 65-78 doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.06.031
- II Gong J., Kellomäki S., Wang K., Zhang C., Shurpali N., Martikainen P.J. 2013 Modeling CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> flux changes in pristine peatlands of Finland under changing climate conditions. Ecological Modelling 263: 64-80 doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.04.018
- III Gong J., Shurpali N., Kellomäki S., Wang K., Salam M.M., Martikainen P.J. 2013. High sensitivity of peat moisture content to seasonal climate in a cutaway peatland cultivated with a perennial crop (*Phalaris arundinacea*, L.): a modeling study. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 180: 225-235 doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.06.012
- IV Gong J., Kellomäki S., Shurpali N., Wang K., Salam M.M., Martikainen P.J. Climatic sensitivity of CO<sub>2</sub> flux in a cutaway boreal peatland under cultivation of a perennial bioenergy crop (*Phalaris arundinaceae*, L.): beyond the diplotelmic modeling. (*manuscript*)

The present author had the main responsibility for modeling, analyzing and writing Articles I - IV. The co-authors contributed in implementation the research tasks and commenting on the writing.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
LIST OF ABBREVATIONS	7
1. INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 Boreal peatland ecosystems, climate change and sustainability of peatland	
management	9
1.2 Hydrological controls on the C-flux changes in pristine peatlands under changing	ng
climate	10
1.3 Influences of peat extraction and RCG cultivation on the C-water processes in	
boreal peatlands	12
1.4 Modeling tools for the C-water cycle in boreal peatland ecosystems	13
1.5 Aims of the study	13
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	14
2.1 General outlines	14
2.2 Outlines of modeling tools (Articles I - IV)	15
2.2.1 Hydrological tools (Articles I & III)	15
2.2.2 C-flux tools (Articles II & IV)	17
2.3 Model parameterization, calibration and validation (Articles I - IV)	19
2.3.1 Models for pristine peatland ecosystems (Articles I & II)	19
2.3.2 Models for cutaway peatlands under RCG cultivation (Articles III & IV).	20
2.4 Climate change scenarios (Articles I, II & IV)	20
3. RESULTS	22
3.1 Climatic sensitivity of hydrology and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems	
(Articles I & II)	22
3.1.1 Model validity	22
3.1.2 Sensitivity of WT and C fluxes in pristine peatlands to the changes in the	
climatic factors	23
3.3.3 Changes in WT and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems in Finland d	uring
the 21st century	23
3.2 Climatic sensitivities of soil hydrology and CO2 flux in a cutaway peatland	
cultivated with RCG (Articles III & IV)	26
3.2.1 Model parameters and validity	26
3.2.2 Sensitivities of soil moisture content to water table manipulations and	
changing P-ET balance	26
3.2.3 Sensitivity of CO2 exchanges to the climate change scenarios	27
4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	27
4.1 Evaluation of the modeling tools	27
4.2 Evaluation of the simulation results	28
4.2.1 Climatic sensitivity of water table and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosys	stems
across Finlana (Articles I & II)	28
4.2.2 Climatic sensitivities of nyarology and C fluxes in a cutaway peatland $\frac{1}{2}$	20
cultivated with KCG (Articles III & IV)	29 20
4.5 CONCLUSIONS	30 20
	32

## LIST OF ABBREVATIONS

ACCLIM: Climate extremes in present day climate and state of the art projections of climate change

C Carbon

 $C_a$  Atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide

CH<sub>4</sub> Methane

 $CO_2$  Carbon dioxide

EC Eddy covariance

ET Evapotranspiration

GPP Gross photosynthetic productivity

 $J_{max}$  Maximum rate of electron transport

Ks Saturated hydraulic conductivity

LE Latent heat flux

N Nitrogen

NEE Net ecosystem exchange of carbon dioxide

NPP Net primary productivity

P Precipitation

PPFD Photosynthetic photon flux density

RCG Reed canary grass

RE Respiration rate of living plant organs

SOM Soil organic matter

SVAT Soil-vegetation-atmosphere transportation

*Ta* Air temperature

 $V_{max}$  Maximum rate of carboxylation governed by Rubisco (ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase)

WT depth of water table

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

# 1.1 Boreal peatland ecosystems, climate change and sustainability of peatland management

Peatland ecosystems are terrestrial environments with a large deposit of partially decomposed organic matter or peat (Wieder et al., 2006). Approximately 80% of the peatlands in the world are in boreal regions. These peatlands cover approximately 2% of the global land surface, which contains approximately 500 Pg ( $10^{15}$  g) of organic carbon. This is approximately one-third of the world's soil carbon (C) pool (Gorham, 1991), which is an equivalent of 40 ppm in terms of the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration ( $C_a$ ) (Moore et al., 1998). This large amount of C was withdrawn from the atmosphere due to the net primary production (NPP) exceeding the decomposition of soil organic matter in these ecosystems. Under boreal conditions, the accumulation of peat mainly depends on the slow decay processes restricted by the low temperature and water-logged conditions of the soil (Turunen, 2008; Dorrepaal et al., 2009). A cool climate, low evapotranspiration rate and high effective moisture are essential for the formation and development of boreal peatlands in suitable geological settings (Yu et al., 2009).

Climate changes, specifically an increase in air temperature (Ta) and changes in precipitation (P), are associated with the increased atmospheric concentrations of C and other greenhouse gases (GHGs). These changes are estimated to be most pronounced at high latitudes (Prowse et al., 2006). A number of studies have suggested that the enormous C storage in peatland ecosystems could be highly sensitive to the changes in climatic conditions. For example, the increases in  $C_a$  and Ta are likely to increase the photosynthetic uptake of  $CO_2$  due to the higher  $C_a$ , longer growing season and the increasing mineralization of nitrogen (e.g., Ge et al., 2012). Furthermore, the warming climate is likely to accelerate the emission of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  (e.g., Ise et al., 2008; Bridgham et al., 2008; Dorrepaal et al., 2009). The C release via  $CH_4$  efflux is currently less than 10% of the total C loss from peat to the atmosphere, but the impacts of  $CH_4$  on radiative forcing are much greater (approximately 21 times for a centurial time horizon) than CO<sub>2</sub>. The variability of the natural origin of mires, climate conditions and geographical settings among mire entities tend to lead to considerable variations in the mixing ratio of  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  fluxes (e.g., Laine et al., 1996; Alm et al., 2007; Minkkinen et al., 2002). As a result, the contributions of boreal peatlands to further changes of climate could be highly uncertain.

Anthropogenic disturbances on boreal peatlands, such as drainage and post-draining management, tend to further complicate the C exchanges in the ecosystems. In Northern Europe, especially in Finland, peatlands are drained extensively for forestry, agriculture and peat extraction for energy purposes (Turunen, 2008; Maljanen et al., 2010). In Finland, approximately 56% of the original peatlands have been drained since the 1950s. Only approximately 40% of the original peatlands are pristine, located mainly in northern Finland (Turunen, 2008).

The drainage of peatlands cuts off the surrounding hydrological influences on a mire system, lowers the ground water level (WT), aerates the catotelm peat, accelerates the heterotrophic soil respiration and reduces the methane effluxes (Nykänen et al., 1998). Furthermore, drained peatlands are likely to increase the C stock in trees and wooden

materials in SOM, thus reducing the C loss from drained mire ecosystems (Maljanen et al., 2010). Long-term agriculture and peat extraction tend to enhance  $CO_2$  emission, mainly because the repeated tillage keeps the topsoil in oxic conditions and enhances decomposition (Nykänen et al., 1995; Mäkiranta et al., 2007). In particular, cutaway peatlands are strong sources of  $CO_2$  for decades after the cessation of peat extraction (e.g., Yli-Petäys et al., 2007). The area of such fields is increasing by 20 km<sup>2</sup> annually in Finland and Sweden (Maljanen et al., 2010). From 1970 to 2000, approximately 5.2 Tg of soil C was lost by gas emissions from the present and abandoned peat extraction sites (approximately 630 km<sup>2</sup>) in Finland (Turunen, 2008).

The sustainable management of boreal peatlands should take advantage of both optimizing socio-economic utilization and protecting the C sink functions of peatland ecosystems. The cultivation of reed canary grass (Phalaris arundinacea, L.; RCG), a perennial bioenergy crop, provides a superior option (Lewandowski et al., 2003; Alm et al, 2011; Shurpali et al., 2013) compared with several other approaches, such as forestry (Mäkiranta et al., 2007), rewetting or the cultivation of barley and grasses (e.g., Nykänen et al., 1995; Maljanen et al., 2010). The benefits of RCG cultivation for cutaway peatlands include the purification of runoffs from peat extraction sites (Hyvönen et al, 2013) and the production of biomass for energy production (Shurpali et al., 2009). By cultivating RCG for energy biomass, C sinks can be recovered in cutaway boreal peatlands (e.g., Shurpali et al., 2009; Hyvönen et al., 2009; Järveoja et al., 2012). However, the net ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> exchange (NEE) and the carbon-neutrality of RCG-based bioenergy are highly variable, even at an annual scale (Shurpali et al., 2009; 2010). Field studies (e.g., Shurpali et al., 2008; 2009; 2010) and greenhouse experiments (e.g., Zhou et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013) show that this variability is related to the variations in the growth of RCG, as affected by the climate variability and the moisture content in the rooting zone. Therefore, it is necessary to compare the climatic sensitivity of the C fluxes in the peatland ecosystems used to cultivate RCG with the fluxes from pristine peatlands to evaluate the sustainability of RCG cultivation in restoring the C-sink functions of cutaway peatlands and optimizing the bioenergy production through proper management strategies.

## 1.2 Hydrological controls on the C-flux changes in pristine peatlands under changing climate

Pristine peatlands are characterized by a diplotelmic structure determined by the water table (WT), i.e., an upper, oxic layer of less decomposed materials (acrotelm) and a deeper, anoxic layer of more decomposed peat (catotelm) (Ingram, 1978; Morris et al., 2011a). Consequently, many ecological and biogeochemical processes and structures co-vary with the changes in WT (e.g., Lafleur et al., 1994; Admiral et al., 2006; Alm et al., 2007; Price and Ketcheson, 2009). Meanwhile, the ecological functions of peatlands are also determinants of their hydrological settings. Plant litter contributes to peat accumulation, which shapes the microtopography (e.g., hummocks and hollows, Nungesser, 2003) and possibly elevates WT with the humification of organic materials and the enhancement of capillary flows (Belyea and Baird, 2006; Price and Ketcheson, 2009). Thus, understanding the changes in peatland hydrology and WT is important to investigating the C-flux changes under the changing climate (e.g., Bohn et al., 2007).

Several studies show that the expected climate change may draw down WT in boreal and subarctic peatlands by 10 - 20 cm (e.g., Roulet et al., 1992; Ise et al., 2008). Such

estimations are mainly based on the possible increase in evapotranspiration (*ET*), which usually represents a major water loss in boreal peatlands. Based on these estimations, experimental studies (e.g., Bridgham et al., 2008; White et al., 2008; Updegrade et al., 2001) have emphasized a strong decrease in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions but an increase in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions under the changing climate. However, these WT fluctuations effectively regulate the water movement in the acrotelm (e.g., capillary rise) and the volumetric water content ( $\theta$ ) in the peat matrix (Price, 1997; Gnatowwski et al., 2002; Price and Ketcheson, 2009). The variation of  $\theta$  further influences the WT changes, i.e., the water potential and hydraulic conductivity of peat are functions of  $\theta$  (Price and Ketcheson, 2009). Such a  $\theta$ -WT interaction is behind the self-regulatory features of peatland hydrology under climatic forcing (Ingram, 1983; Price and Ketcheson, 2009). As a result, there are uncertainties in

regulatory features of peat hydrology. At the regional scale, peatlands are discrete systems surrounded by mineral uplands that are weakly recharged by stream systems (e.g., Charman, 2002; Siegel and Glaser, 2006). These characteristics suggest that the hydrology and WT dynamics of peatlands at a regional scale depend mainly on the soil-vegetation-atmosphere transportation (SVAT) processes specific to each individual mire system in the area. Due to the topographical complexity of the regional landscape, the influences of lateral hydrology can be highly variable among mire entities. Such a hydrological variability is strongly correlated with the variations in other properties of mire entities, e.g., nutrient richness, vegetation, microtopology and soil texture, as represented by the classification of mire types. Typically, fens are minerotrophic (receive water and nutrients from both precipitation and their surroundings) and are dominated by vascular ground plants, whereas bogs are ombrotrophic (receive water and nutrients only from precipitation), have low pH and are dominated by non-vascular mosses (Igram, 1983). Such differences in the properties of mires indicate differences in the SVAT-based transportation of water-energy and the differences in hydrological responses to the changing climate among mire systems. Under artificial manipulations of WT and Ta, the responses of C-fluxes are found to be different in fens and bogs, due to the differences in the ecophysiology and biogeochemistry of ecosystems (e.g., Weltzin et al, 2000; Updegraff et al, 2001; Bridgham et al, 2008). The mire-type differences in hydrology, ecophysiology and biogeochemistry need to be addressed when studying the climatic sensitivity of the hydrology and C fluxes in pristine boreal peatlands.

the responses of WT in pristine peatlands to the changing climate regarding the self-

The boreal peatlands in Finland cover approximately 30% of the country's territory, with a total C storage of approximately 5960 Tg (Turunen, 2008). A major fraction of these peatlands is fen, which dominate central and northern Finland. In contrast, the peatlands in southern Finland are rarer and ombrotrophic bog-dominated. On average, the peat deposits in these areas are older and thicker than in the mires in the north of the country (Turunen et al., 2002). Based on a 30-year (1981-2010) average of climate records, the interactions between *Ta* and *P* in Finland show a south-north gradient, i.e., the mean annual *Ta* varies from -2 °C in the north to +5 °C in the south, and the annual *P* varies from 400 mm in the north to 750 mm in the south. The climate change associated with the doubling of  $C_a$  by the end of the 21st century implies an increase of 2 to 6 °C in the annual mean *Ta* and 7 to 26% in the annual mean *P* (Jylhä et al, 2009), the changes being greater in winter than in summer. It is still poorly known how the changing climate may affect the exchanges of C gases in peatlands over the whole of Finland. This effect is closely related to the heterogeneity of mire types and changes in climate, which reduces the accuracy of GHG inventories of peatlands (Alm et al., 2007).

# **1.3 Influences of peat extraction and RCG cultivation on the C-water processes in boreal peatlands**

Management strategies for peat extraction and RCG cultivation are likely to significantly modify the hydrology and C processes that are representative in pristine peatland ecosystems. In peat extraction, the acrotelm peat is removed, and old, highly decomposed peat previously preserved in the bottom catotelm is exposed. These peats are characterized by low porosity and saturated hydraulic conductivity (Ks) (Price, 1997) due to the consolidation, compression, shrinkage (Schlotzhauer and Price, 1999; Price and Whitehead, 2004) and oxidation (Waddington and Price, 2000) of peat after tillage and drainage. The cultivation of RCG drives the transformation process of organic matter, a process known as moorshiftcation (Okruszko and Ilnicki, 2003). On the other hand, the accumulation of RCG litter in the topsoil tends to decrease the water retention capacity but increase the Ks of the surface peat. The growth of RCG rhizomes also increases the macropores in rhizospheric soil (Beven and Germann, 1982). These characteristics of soil tend to facilitate the gravity drainage of water from topsoil. However, the low permeability of the old peat layer could restrict the ability of the upward capillary flow to the surface. If the organic layer is thin and the WT is drained beneath the peat bottom, the  $\theta$ -WT interaction could be further decoupled, especially if the subsoil is highly permeable (e.g., coarse sand) and has a low water retention capacity (e.g., Walczak et al., 2002). Consequently, the decoupling of the  $\theta$ -WT interaction may modify the soil hydrology and its responses to the climatic forcing compared with pristine peatlands, where WT is generally regarded as a surrogate of  $\theta$  and is related to multiple ecophysiological and biogeochemical processes. To date, little is known about the extent to which the flow mechanisms and climatic sensitivity of the soil hydrology could be affected by peat extraction and RCG cultivation.

The possible decoupling of the  $\theta$ -WT interaction in RCG cutaway peatlands further implies that the core assumption of diplotelmic theory, in which the WT is a strong predictor of many variables relevant to peatland ecohydrology, may not apply in such ecosystems. Instead, the changing climate is likely to impact the C exchanges mainly through manipulating the root-zone moisture content and the C fixation of RCG (e.g., Shurpali et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013). Moreover, such impacts tend to accumulate over the years due to several long-term feedbacks. For example, the accumulation of rhizome biomass could speed up the development of the RCG canopy during the early growing season (Asaeda and Karunaratne, 2000; Xiong and Kätterer, 2010). The accumulation of RCG litters and exudates gradually increases the labile substrates in the soil, improving the quality of the peat (e.g., Hobbie et al., 1995) and speeding up the decomposition of SOM, even for old, resistant materials (priming effect, Kuzyakov et al., 2000; Tavi et al., 2010). Due to the uncertainties regarding the hydrological responses and the complexity of plant ecophysiology, little is known about the extent to which the C exchanges may respond to the potential climatic changes in cutaway boreal peatlands with ongoing RCG cultivation and to which extent management has altered the climatic sensitivity of the C exchange in cutaway compared with pristine peatlands.

#### 1.4 Modeling tools for the C-water cycle in boreal peatland ecosystems

Understanding C-water changes under the changing climate requires investigation of the very mixed effects of changes in ecohydrology, soil thermal loading, photosynthetic efficiency and SOM quality (Shannon and White, 1994; Moore et al., 1998; White et al., 2008). There is a clear need for analytical models capable of reproducing the ecosystem cycles of C, nutrients, water and energy. A number of hydrological models at the point scale have been developed over the past two decades for the SVAT-based water transportation in boreal peatlands (e.g., Letts et al., 2000; Comer et al., 2000). Many of these models emphasize WT controls on the *P-ET* balance (Roulet et al., 1992; Rouse, 1998) and the effects of vegetation type on surface resistance schemes (SWAPS model, Spieksma et al., 1997). Moreover, Nungesser (2003) suggested the importance of microtopology (i.e., hummocks and hollows) to the soil water capacity and evaporation. Several models have also described the effects of peat water retention capacity (Weiss et al., 2006) and ditching (Koivusalo et al., 2008) on WT changes.

The recent peatland C models incorporate the processes of ecohydrology, ecophysiology and biogeochemistry with respect to seasonal (e.g., Frolking et al., 2001; 2002; Zhang et al., 2002; St-Hilaire et al., 2008) and long-term dynamics (e.g., Ise et al., 2008). Efforts have also been made to extrapolate the C-water processes from the point scale to the regional scale by considering the spatial heterogeneities of lateral hydrology and vegetation (e.g., Govind et al., 2011; Tague and Band, 2004; Chen et al., 2005; Bohn et al., 2007; Devito et al., 2005). However, many models omit the fen-bog differences in ecohydrology, ecophysiology and biogeochemistry. On the other hand, the diplotelmic theory, which is one of the core assumptions behind the current peatland models, may not apply in peatlands disturbed by the extraction of peat and the cultivation of RCG on cutaway peatlands. For these reasons, the mire-type effects should be included in modeling tools supporting the assessment of the climatic sensitivity of hydrology and C fluxes in pristine peatlands. For cutaway RCG peatlands, the diplotelmic theory should be tested and the C-water processes specified in the modeling tools regarding the influences of peat extraction and RCG cultivation on the hydrology and ecophysiology of mire ecosystems.

#### 1.5 Aims of the study

The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of climate change on soil hydrology and C fluxes in boreal peatland ecosystems, with implication for the feasibility of RCG cultivation as a way to restore the C-sink functions of cutaway peatlands under the Finnish conditions. Modeling approaches were employed to carry out the specific research tasks, which are listed as follows:

1. Modeling the changes in WT and water balance in boreal peatlands in Finland under the changing climate (Article I).

2. Modeling the changes in  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes in pristine peatlands in Finland under the changing climate (Article II).

3. Modeling the climatic sensitivity of soil moisture content in a cutaway peatland cultivated with a perennial bioenergy crop (*Phalaris arundinacea*, L.) (Article III).

4. Modeling the climatic sensitivity of ecosystem carbon exchanges in a cutaway peatland under the cultivation of a perennial bioenergy crop (*Phalaris arundinacea*, L.) (Article IV).

For tasks 1 and 2, the diplotelmic theory was employed in the development of the modeling tools. The mire-type differences in lateral hydrology, ecophysiology and biogeochemistry, i.e., fens *vs.* bogs, were hypothesized to lead to different hydrological responses to the changing climate, and such differences were assumed to differentiate the climatic sensitivity of the ecosystem fluxes of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$ . In task 3, management systems for peat extraction and RCG cultivation were hypothesized to modify the diplotelmic hydrology in the cutaway peatlands, and such changes were further related to the C-exchange responses of the ecosystem to the changing climate (task 4).

### 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 General outlines

The research tasks of this study follow the schematic procedure shown in Figure 1. A series of process-based models were developed to perform a point level (stand level) simulation of the hydrology and energy balance of a site under climatic forcing in pristine (Article I) and cutaway RCG peatland ecosystems (Article III). The hydrology and energy balance models were further incorporated within the C models (Articles II, IV) to simulate the annual and seasonal dynamics of C exchanges (g C m<sup>-2</sup> timestep<sup>-1</sup>). For the pristine peatland ecosystems, the models were developed based on the diplotelmic theory, and the differences in hydrological, ecophysiological and biogeochemical processes between fens and bogs were highlighted (Articles I & II). The models for cutaway peatlands cultivated with RCG are non-diplotelmic, and the influences of multiple management practices (e.g., site preparation, cultivation, fertilization and harvesting) were highlighted in the water, energy, C and N cycles (Articles III & IV).

The models were used to investigate the sensitivities of soil hydrology and C exchanges of mire ecosystems to the changes in climatic factors (i.e.,  $C_a$ , Ta and P). The hydrological responses of pristine peatlands were represented by the changes in WT (Article I), which further affected the response of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes through multiple feedbacks among the water, energy, C and N cycles (Article II). For cutaway peatlands under RCG cultivation, the sensitivities of root-zone moisture content to the changes in WT and *P*-*ET* balance were also tested (Article III). The climate change scenarios developed by the Finnish Meteorological Institute (FMI) for the 21st century were employed to simulate the mixed effects of the changes in  $C_a$ , Ta and P on the hydrology and C exchanges (Articles I, II & IV). In Articles I & II, the changes in C-water cycling were simulated for the pristine peatlands across the territory of Finland. Mapping data from SRTM remote sensing, the National Land Survey of Finland, the European Soil Bureau and the Finnish Meteorological Institute were used in the country-scale simulations. In Articles III and IV, the modeling and simulations were performed at the mire unit level (Linnansuo, 62°30'N, 30°30'E).



**Figure 1.** Outline of the study. The dashed arrows represent the effects or processes included in the model.

### 2.2 Outlines of modeling tools (Articles I - IV)

### 2.2.1 Hydrological tools (Articles I & III)

Figure 2 shows the framework of the hydrological tools (Articles I & III). In these tools, the changes in soil water storage (dW) at the point scale are driven by the balance among the P, ET and water flow in the soil, e.g., discharge and recharge, as indicated by Equation (1). The changes in the volumetric moisture content in the peat profile (divided by 10-cm layers) lead to multiple water-energy feedbacks to the water balance via ET and discharges (Figure 2). The calculation of ET covers snow-covered and snow-free seasons. During the snow-free season, ET is calculated as the total water loss through canopy transpiration, evaporation of the intercepted rainfall and evaporation from the ground. The discharge is calculated as the sum of seepage (Ws) and overland flow (Wo). The recharge consists of melting snow ( $W_{melt}$ ) and the inflowing water from the upstream areas (Wf). During the snow-covered season, ET is calculated as the evaporation from snow, ignoring the variations in soil moisture content and WT. In the calculations, Ws, Wo and ET are negative

(water is flowing out from the stand), whereas Wf,  $W_{melt}$  and P are positive (water is flowing into the stand).

$$dW = P + ET + Ws + Wo + Wf + W_{melt}$$
(1)

In the pristine peatland ecosystems, the change in soil water storage drives the fluctuation of WT based on an empirical water retention function. The fen-bog differences in the water balance at the stand level are represented by the different *Wf* calculation schemes in the pristine fens. The value of *Wf* depends on the water budget in the upstream areas of the stand, whereas the recharge from the surroundings is ignored in the water-balance calculation for the pristine bogs. The SVAT-based transportation of water-energy is also specified for the pristine fens and pristine bogs regarding the differences in the vegetation types, surface resistance features and microtopography.

In the cutaway peatlands occupied by RCG, the hydrological influence from the surroundings is ignored due to the drainage. The soil layers, which represent distinctive anthropogenic and ecobiological features, are separated (Figure 1, Article III). The water transportation between soil layers of dissimilar hydraulic properties is calculated as the sum of Darcy's flow and turbulent flow through micropores. The transpirative uptake of water from each soil layer is related to the distribution of fine roots in the soil profile. The phenological cycle of RCG influences the seasonality of *ET* demand by affecting the canopy morphology, surface energy partitioning, rainfall interception and surface aerodynamic features. The surface energy balance is also affected by the development of snowpack, the soil thermal properties and the thaw-frost dynamics of the soil water content.



**Figure 2.** Framework of the hydrological tools for the pristine (Article I) and drained peatland ecosystems (Article III). The solid arrows indicate the water flow in the ecosystems. The dashed arrows indicate the information flow between the model variables.

#### 2.2.2 C-flux tools (Articles II & IV)

Figure 3 shows the framework of the C-flux tools (Articles II & IV). The C-flux tools calculate the net C exchanges of the peatland ecosystems by simulating the simultaneous input and output of C, i.e., photosynthesis (*GPP*) vs. respiration for CO<sub>2</sub> (*AR*), and methanogenesis (*Ra*) vs. methanotrophy (*RO*) for CH<sub>4</sub>:

$$F_{CO2} = GPP + AR + RO \tag{2}$$

$$C_{CH4} = Ra - RO \tag{3}$$

where AR includes the CO<sub>2</sub> loss via the respiration in the living plant organs (RE) and the CO<sub>2</sub> respired from the decomposition of SOM (Ro). In the calculation, GPP is negative (C is flowing into the system), whereas RE, Ro, RO and Ra are positive (C is flowing out of the system).

The simulation of the C processes at the mire-entity scale is based on a combination of sub-models (Figure 3) that are linked by multiple feedbacks to represent the complex interactions among the C, N, water and energy cycles in the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum. The hydrological tools for the pristine peatlands (Article I) and the cutaway peatland (Article III) are incorporated in the C models for corresponding ecosystems as the sub-models of soil water (iii, see Figure 3) and soil temperature (iv, see Figure 3). The dynamics of soil moisture content, energy balance and soil temperature calculated in these sub-models further regulate the rates of photosynthesis and respiration in the sub-models for vegetation (i), decomposition (ii) and peat texture (v) (Figure 3).

In the vegetation sub-model, the rate of photosynthesis (*GPP*) is calculated as a function of biochemical parameters (i.e., maximum carboxylation velocity ( $V_{max}$ ), maximum rate of electron transport ( $J_{max}$ )), leaf nitrogen content ( $N_{leaf}$ ), climatic variables (i.e., radiation, Taand  $C_a$ ) and stomatal conductance (Farquhar et al., 1980). A temporal and spatial scaling scheme is used to integrate the diurnal irradiative cycle and the distribution of sunlit ( $LA_{sun}$ ) and shaded leaf area ( $LA_{shade}$ ) within dense upper canopies. The stomatal conductance is further subject to independent stress scalars of photosynthetic photon flux density (*PPFD*), Ta, vapor pressure deficit ( $D_a$ ) and the moisture content in the root-zone soil. The CO<sub>2</sub> loss via the respiration in plant organs (*RE*) depends on the biomass and the air and soil temperatures. The net primary production (NPP), which is the balance between *GPP* and *RE*, is further regulated by the availability of mineral N, and it drives the accumulation of biomass in plant organs. Litter falling from the plant organs is added to the soil organic matter (SOM) and is subjected to the decay process.

In the sub-model for decomposition, the rates of aerobic / anaerobic decay are calculated based on the vertical profile of peat temperature and moisture content. The rate of decomposition at a certain point in the peat profile is calculated based on multiple SOM components of characteristic decomposability and N concentrations. The decomposition process is constrained by multiple environmental factors, i.e., soil temperature, soil moisture, pH, availability of mineral N and the C:N ratio of SOM. The CH<sub>4</sub> efflux is

subject to the balance between methanogenesis in the anoxic soil layers and the methanotrophy during the transportation process. The emission of  $CO_2$  from soil comprises the  $CO_2$  produced in methanotrophy and respired from belowground biomass as well as the decomposition of SOM. The balance between litter accumulation and SOM decomposition drives the changes in the thickness and bulk densities of the peat layers. These changes further feed back to the water-energy exchange in the soil (see the peat texture sub-model, Articles II & IV).

For the pristine peatlands, the differences in ecosystem processes between the fen-type and bog-type peatlands are emphasized in the C-flux tool (Article II). These differences mainly emphasize the differences in hydrology (Article I), plant-mediated C sequestration and N cycling and the mineral N input from the upstream areas (Article II). For the cutaway RCG peatland, the C-flux tool (Article IV) entails the influences of seasonal soil moisture on the canopy morphology, the allometric scheme of biomass, the photosynthetic intrinsics (i.e.,  $V_{max}$  and  $J_{max}$ ) and the phenological cycle of RCG. The rhizome biomass also affects the growth of RCG at the start of a growing season. In addition, the effects of management practices, i.e., drainage, fertilization and harvesting, are related to the soil hydrology, N cycling and litter returning, respectively.



**Figure 3.** Framework of the C-flux tools for the pristine peatlands (Article II) and the drained peatland under RCG cultivation (Article III). The solid arrows indicate the flows of mass and energy. The dashed arrows indicate the information flow between model variables.

#### 2.3 Model parameterization, calibration and validation (Articles I - IV)

#### 2.3.1 Models for pristine peatland ecosystems (Articles I & II)

The parameterization of the hydrological and the C-flux tools for the pristine peatland ecosystems is based on 10 km×10 km spatial grids, which capture the heterogeneities of climate, catchment conditions and C storage across Finland. At the grid scale, the models are parameterized for fens and bogs based on 1 km×1 km patches. The SRTM digital elevation model and multivariate data from SYKE, National Land Survey of Finland and European Soil Bureau, are used to parameterize the distribution of pristine fens and pristine bogs in Finland, including the hydrological properties of catchments. In the pristine bogs, the atmospheric deposition of nitrates is the only outside source of N input. In the fens, nutrients are also available from upland areas in addition to the atmospheric input of N, i.e., the N deposition is related to the ratio of fen area to the upstream area that contributes nutrients to a particular fen. The values of the other parameters, such as peat thickness and texture (e.g., Turunen et al., 2002), plant communities (e.g., Aurela et al., 2002), canopy structure (e.g., Repola, 2009) and surface resistance (e.g., Raddatz et al., 2009) are from previous publications.

Table 1. Validation and sensitivit	/ analysis o	f the models for	pristine peatland	d ecosystems.
------------------------------------	--------------	------------------	-------------------	---------------

		<b>0 1 1 1</b>
	Nodel validation	Sensitivity analysis
Hydrological tool	The simulated <i>ET</i> was compared with the measured potential evaporation from seven evaporation stations across Finland. The Priestley-Taylor coefficient was estimated and compared with previous studies. The modeled monthly WT for each mire type was compared with the values measured from three spatial grids (Lakkasuo, Mekrijävi and Vaisjeäggi areas).	The sensitivity of WT to 15 scenarios (0, +2 °C and +6 °C in <i>Ta</i> , and -20%, -10%, 0, +10% and +20% in <i>P</i> ) were tested for pristine fens and bogs based on 5 grid areas from southern Finland to Lapland. The parameter sensitivity of WT was tested by manipulating peat thickness, peat hydraulic conductivity, water retention capacity, hollow area, hollow depth or the surface resistance for <i>ET</i> .
C-flux tool	The modeled monthly and annual exchanges of $CO_2$ were compared with EC records from the Kaamanen mire complex over a six-year period. The modeled soil emissions of $CO_2$ and $CH_4$ were further validated based on the data measured from two grid areas (Lakkasuo and Mekrijävi areas), which include a variety of fen- and bog-type sites.	The sensitivity of the modeled C fluxes to the variations of several land-surface parameters was tested. These parameters include peat thickness, C:N ratio of the peat, hydraulic conductivity, DBH of trees, leaf area of ground vegetation and hollow depth. The model sensitivities to the changes in climatic factors were tested based on 25 climate scenarios. These scenarios combine five increases in annual <i>Ta</i> (0, +1 °C, +3 °C, +5 °C and +7 °C) and five increases in annual <i>P</i> (0, +5%, +10%, +15%, +20% and +25%) under elevated <i>C<sub>a</sub></i> (700 ppm).

In addition to the previous studies regarding the validity of the model (Table 3, Article I; Table 2, Article II), the validity of the models were further tested utilizing the WT and C flux data measured from several sites across Finland (Table 1). These sites were located in the grids from southern to northern Finland, and they represent a variety of pristine fens and bogs. The model sensitivities to several land-surface parameters were tested (Table 1). Based on the validated model, the sensitivity of the soil WT and the  $CO_2/CH_4$  fluxes to the changes in the climatic factors (i.e., *Ta*, *P* and *C<sub>a</sub>*) were tested based on multiple grid areas (Table 1).

#### 2.3.2 Models for cutaway peatlands under RCG cultivation (Articles III & IV)

The parameterization of the modeling tools for cutaway RCG peatlands was based on the Linnansuo site ( $62^{\circ}30$ 'N,  $30^{\circ}30$ 'E), which is located in eastern Finland in a transition zone between southern and mid-boreal climatic conditions. The area is well drained by ditches, and the RCG cultivation began in 2002 after peat extraction ceased. The soil profile is characterized by multiple layers representing distinctive anthropogenic and ecobiological features (Article III). The dissimilar properties of the layers, i.e., thickness, bulk density, C and N contents and microbial biomass, were parameterized based on soil-core samples from the field (Articles III & IV). The water retention curves of the soil and the effects of macropores on the rate of infiltration were fitted based on the measured soil-moisture changes during several rain events (Article III). The influence of soil moisture conditions on the canopy morphology, i.e., canopy height (*hc*) and leaf area (*LA*), were parameterized by a set of environment-controlled experiments (Article IV). The influence of drought on the photosynthetic parameters (e.g., *V<sub>max</sub>* and *J<sub>max</sub>*) and the phenological cycle of RCG were also investigated by calibrating the modeled NEE to the measured values during a wet year (2009) and a very dry year (2010) (Article IV).

Table 2 lists the validation and sensitivity analysis based on the hydrological tool and the C-flux tool based on the Linnansuo site (Articles III & IV). The hydrological tool was validated by comparing the simulated daily values of the latent heat flux (LE) and the soil temperature and soil moisture profiles with the values measured during 2009-2010 (Article III). The sensitivity of the soil moisture profile to artificial manipulations of the WT and *P*-*ET* balance were tested (Article III). The modeled CO<sub>2</sub> flux was tested by contrasting the simulated daily vapor flux and NEE values to the values measured during a 6-year period (2005-2010) representing the 4th - 9th year of cultivation. The climatic sensitivity of the CO<sub>2</sub> exchanges was further tested by manipulating the *Ta*, *P* and *C<sub>a</sub>* values in the simulations (Article IV).

#### 2.4 Climate change scenarios (Articles I, II & IV)

The simulations of climate-change effects on the hydrology and C-fluxes of the ecosystems employed the ACCLIM climate change scenarios provided by the Finnish Meteorological Institute (Jylhä et al., 2009). In the ACCLIM scenarios, the climatic gradient in Finland was captured by daily climatic data from 318 stations, each of which represents the central point of a  $0.5^{\circ} \times 0.5^{\circ}$  area throughout the country. The changing climate scenario was based on the A1B GHG scenario given in the studied periods, i.e., 2000-2019 (Period I), 2020-2059

(Period II) and 2060-2099 (Period III). The increases in the climatic factors (i.e.,  $C_a$ , Ta and P) were predicted to be more pronounced in Period III than in Periods I and II. Furthermore, the changes in Ta and P were more pronounced in winter than in summer (Figure 4). The effects of climate change on the WT and the C fluxes were represented by the differences in the values under the changing climate and the current climate.

To simulate the changes in WT and the C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems across Finland, the ACCLIM climate scenarios were averaged to monthly values and interpolated to 10 km × 10 km grids (the universal Kriging method) (Articles I & II). These simulations covered the 2000-2099 period. To simulate the C-flux changes in the cutaway RCG peatland, climate change scenarios were constructed for the period between the 4th - 15th years since cultivation, considering the common rotation length of 10 - 15 years in the Nordic countries (Elbersen et al., 2000). The climatic variables measured during 2005-2010 (from an age of 4 to 9 years) were used as the current climate (CU) and were repeated for an age of 10 to 15 years. The changes in the daily values of *Ta* and *P* were extracted from the ACCLIM scenarios for Periods I-III from the site (62°46'N, 30°58'E) closest to the Linnansuo peatland (Figure 4). The trends of these changes were added to CU to represent the changing climate (CC). The changes in the CO<sub>2</sub> flux were calculated for RCG the period from 4 to 15 years of age for Periods I-III.

	Model validation	Sensitivity analysis	
	The modeled soil moisture content	The sensitivity of the modeled soil	
	and soil temperature was	moisture content was tested with ±25%	
	compared with the values	manipulations of the effective moisture	
Hydrological	measured at multiple depths of the	(P minus ET) and change in the	
tool	Linnansuo site during 2009-2010.	regularity of summer rainfall. The model	
1001	The modeled daily ET was also	sensitivity to the manipulation of WT	
	compared with the values	was also tested by disregarding the	
	measured using the EC technique.	seasonal fluctuation of WT and	
		decreasing the WT by 50 cm.	
C-flux tool	The modeled daily exchanges of	The sensitivity of the modeled $CO_2$	
	latent heat and CO <sub>2</sub> were	exchange was tested for potential	
	compared with the EC records	changes in the climatic factors (i.e., Ta,	
	during a six-year period (2005-	$P$ and $C_a$ ). These changes were based	
	2010).	on the ACCLIM climate change	
		scenarios, and the changes in Ta, P	
		and $C_a$ were given for 2000-2019	
		(Period I), 2020-2059 (Period II) and	
		2060-2099 (Period III).	

 Table 2. Validation and sensitivity analysis of the models for drained peatland cultivated with RCG.



**Figure 4.** Changes in monthly *Ta* (A) and *P* (B) in peatlands in Finland over the 21st century (ACCLIM climate scenarios). Period I: 2000-2019; Period II: 2020-2059; Period III: 2060-2099. The error bars represent the standard deviations of the changes based on 10 km  $\times$  10 km spatial grids.

### **3. RESULTS**

# 3.1 Climatic sensitivity of hydrology and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems (Articles I & II)

#### 3.1.1 Model validity

In general, the simulated values of the WT,  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes were strongly correlated with the values measured at the grid scale. The hydrological model explained more than 85% of the variations in the grid-based WT measured at the Lakkasuo, Mekrijärvi and Vaisjeäggi mire-complexes (Article I). The C-flux tool explained more than 80% of the variations in the monthly soil emissions of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  measured from the pristine fen sites at the Lakkasuo and Mekrijärvi areas (Article II). For the pristine bog sites in these areas, the model explained 77% and 42% of the variations in the measured soil  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes, respectively (Article II). The C-flux tool also showed no significant deviations in describing the monthly and annual NEE trends of the Kaamanen mire complex (Article II).

The tests for the parameter sensitivities showed that the hydrological tool was more sensitive to the variations in the surface resistances compared with the land-surface parameters, including the peat thickness, soil hydraulic conductivity, hollow area and hollow depth (Article I). On the other hand, the C-flux tool was more sensitive to the variations in hollow area and hollow depth compared with the others (Article II). In addition, the  $CH_4$  emission in the pristine bogs was also sensitive to the increased C:N ratio (Article II).

**Table 3.** General responses of water table, soil temperature and C exchanges in pristine peatland ecosystems in Finland to increases in Ta, P and  $C_a$ . Downward arrows represent the decrease in parameter values, whereas upward arrows represent the increase in parameter values. A greater number of arrows indicates the higher sensitivity of a parameter to the changes in a climate variable.

Parameters	Ca	Та	Р
WT	n.a.*	$\downarrow$	<u>↑</u>
Soil temperature (10 cm depth)	n.a.*	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	n.c. **
CH <sub>4</sub> source	<b>↑</b>	$\downarrow$	↑
NPP	1	<b>↑</b>	1
AR	1	$\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$	$\downarrow$
NEE	↑	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	<b>↑</b>

<sup>\*</sup> Not available. <sup>\*\*</sup> The change is unclear.

# 3.1.2 Sensitivity of WT and C fluxes in pristine peatlands to the changes in the climatic factors

Table 3 lists the general responses of the WT and C fluxes in the pristine mires to the changes in climatic factors (i.e., Ta, P and  $C_a$ ). Increasing Ta and constant P tended to draw down the WT (Article I) and raise the soil temperature but reduce the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Article II). On the other hand, an increasing P and constant Ta tended to raise the WT (Article I) and increase the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions but slightly decrease the soil temperature (Article II). The WT and CH<sub>4</sub> emission in the pristine fens showed greater sensitivity to the manipulation of climatic factors compared with that in the pristine bogs (Articles I & II). In both fens and bogs, the NEE would increase along with rising P and  $C_a$ , whereas a rising Ta would decrease the NEE by enhancing AR more than NPP (Article II). The NEE was more sensitive to the changes in Ta compared with the changes in P. The NEE of the pristine fens showed greater Ta sensitivities but less P sensitivity compared with the pristine bogs, whereas an increase in Ta tended to shift bogs from a CO<sub>2</sub> sink to CO<sub>2</sub> sources more easily than the fens.

# 3.3.3 Changes in WT and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems in Finland during the 21st century

In response to climate change, the simulation showed that the WT at the country scale would draw down mainly in the spring months (i.e., April - May), whereas the WT drawdown tended to be weaker in the summer and autumn months (June - September). During Period I (2000-2019), the WT drawdown occurred mainly in the southwestern part of the aapa-mire region and the western parts of the raised-bog region. This drawdown in WT tended to become greater and to expand southward and northward in Periods II and III. The WT drawdown was also more pronounced in the pristine fens than in the pristine bogs, particularly in the southwestern parts of the aapa-mire region (Figure 5).



**Figure 5.** Spatial variation in the WT changes in the pristine bogs (A-C) and pristine fens (D-F) during Periods I (2000-2019, A and D), II (2020-2059, B and E) and III (2060-2099, C and F). A negative value of WT change indicates a drawdown of WT.

At the country scale, the climate changes tended to decrease the  $CO_2$  sink by  $21.5 \pm 5.4$  g C m<sup>-2</sup> a<sup>-1</sup> but to increase the CH<sub>4</sub> emission by  $0.7 \pm 0.3$  g C m<sup>-2</sup> a<sup>-1</sup> in the pristine peatlands during the 21st century. These changes tended to be the most pronounced in Period III (2060-2099) compared with Periods I (2000-2019) and II (2020-2059). In the southwestern part of Finland, the climate changes tended to decrease the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from the pristine peatlands, mainly in the Periods II and III, along with the WT drawdown in these areas. On the other hand, the peatlands tended to become greater CH<sub>4</sub> sources over time in the northwestern parts of Finland (Article II). Compared with the pristine fens, the reduction of the CO<sub>2</sub> sink function in the pristine bogs was smaller in Period III (Article II). In most parts of the raised-bog region and the western part of the southern aapa-mire region, the

pristine fens are likely to turn from a net C sink to a weak source under the changing climate by the end of this century. The transition of the bogs from C sinks to sources will bemost notable near the coastal areas (Figure 6).



**Figure 6.** Spatial variation of C accumulation in the pristine fens (A-B) and the pristine bogs (C-D) during the 21st century under the current (A and C) and changing climate (B and D). A negative value indicates a net C source. The red circles represent the Linnansuo sites (B and D).

# 3.2 Climatic sensitivities of soil hydrology and CO2 flux in a cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG (Articles III & IV)

#### 3.2.1 Model parameters and validity

The environment-controlled experiments showed that lowering moisture content in the rooting zone decreased the leaf-stem ratio of the RCG and limited the canopy development (Figure 5, Article IV). The hydrological model calibration showed that the water retention capacity was greater but that the saturated hydraulic conductivity was smaller deeper in peat profile (Article III). Moreover, more than 80 % of the rain water could be transported through the topsoil via flashy turbulent flows mediated by macropores (Table 1, Article III). On the other hand, calibrating the RCG-C showed that the Julian day for the growth commencement and the temperature sum required by the whole phenological cycle did not clearly differ between a wet year (2009) and a very dry year (2010). Moreover, the variations in the dry-wet climate conditions in the calibration years slightly affected the  $V_{max}$  and  $J_{max}$  values and the allometric pattern of photosynthetic assimilates between the above- and below-ground mass (Table 4, Article IV). The spring harvest removed 66.8 % of the above-ground mass inherited from the previous autumn. Stems were more efficiently removed in the harvest than leaves (Figure 4, Article IV).

The hydrological tool validation based on the years 2009-2010 showed that the model explained 70.3 % of the variance in the measured latent heat flux (LE) (Figure 5, Article III). On the other hand, the model explained more than 90 % of the seasonal variations in the soil temperature at depths of 2 cm, 6 cm and 16 cm (Figure 6, Article III). The model also captured well the seasonal trends of soil moisture changes in the peat profile (e.g., at depths of 2.5 cm, 10 cm and 30 cm) during 2009-2010, and it explained 90.3 % of the overall variations in the soil moisture measured (Figure 7, Article III). Validating the RCG-C model using the six-year eddy-covariance records showed that the model explained 81.0% of the variations in the measured daily NEE. The RMSE of the simulated NEE was 0.834 g C m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>, which is approximately one order lower than the seasonal variations (Figure 7, Article IV). The simulated values of the total CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration, rhizome biomass growth and litter layer accumulation were also close to the measured values (Table 5 and Figure 7, Article IV).

# 3.2.2 Sensitivities of soil moisture content to water table manipulations and changing *P*-*ET* balance

The sensitivity analysis showed that the simulated moisture content in the unsaturated peat was not sensitive to the WT level in the cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG. The low sensitivity of the soil moisture content to the changing WT was associated with the dominance of the downward water flux from the organic layer to the sandy layer underneath. The soil moisture content in the shallow peat (e.g., 2.5 cm and 10 cm deep) was more sensitive to such changes than that in the NT layer (Table 3 & Figure 8, Article III). Increasing *ET* by 25 % or decreasing *P* by 25 % reduced the soil moisture content mainly at the 2.5 cm and 10 cm depths, whereas the changes at the 30 cm depth were weaker. A 25 % decrease in *P* showed a greater influence on the soil moisture changes than the 25 % increase in *ET*, regardless of the year. The downward water flux increased with the drawdown of WT but decreased with the reduction in P and the increase in *ET* (Table. 2).

The sensitivity of the water flux and soil moisture content to the changes in ET and P was significantly greater in the wet year (2009) than in the dry year (2010) (Table 3, Article III).

#### 3.2.3 Sensitivity of CO<sub>2</sub> exchanges to the climate change scenarios

Several responses of the CO<sub>2</sub> exchanges to the changes in the climatic factors were clear. *First*, the increase in *Ta* decreased the CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration during the rotation period, whereas the increase in  $C_a$  increased the CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration. *Second*, the increase in *P* slightly decreased the ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration, whereas such an effect is irrelevant compared with the effect of the increase in *Ta* or  $C_a$ . *Third*, under the increasing *Ta*, the changes in the CO<sub>2</sub> sink were greater (p < 0.001) during the period from 4 to 9 years of age compared with the period from 10 to 15 years. The magnitude of the decrease in the CO<sub>2</sub> sink under the rising *Ta* was also greater than the magnitude of the increase in CO<sub>2</sub> sink under the increasing  $C_a$  (Figure 9, Article IV).

The simulations showed that the climate change in Period I (2000-2019) may slightly decrease the  $CO_2$  sink function of peatland occupied by RCG during a main rotation period, i.e., during the period representing the age of cultivation from 4 to 15 years since establishment. However, the  $CO_2$  sink function tended to decrease extensively under the climate changes in Periods II (2020-2059) and III (2060-2099). Under the changing climate, the total  $CO_2$  sequestration in Period III would decrease by 63% - 87% during a main rotation period (Article IV).

### 4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

#### 4.1 Evaluation of the modeling tools

In this work, a series of process-based models were developed, parameterized and validated to study the effects of climate changes on the soil hydrology and C fluxes in boreal peatland ecosystems under Finnish conditions (Articles I - IV). The results showed that the diplotelmic models included the key mechanisms that control the hydrology and seasonal C exchanges in the pristine peatlands (Articles I & II). The model also described ecosystem processes specific to fens and bogs, thus making it possible to include the heterogeneity of the different mire types in the regional simulations. At the study scale, the mire-type effects mainly affected the heterogeneities of the hydrology and C fluxes, whereas the spatial variations of the water table and C fluxes for a certain mire type were more stochastic. In this context, stochastic modeling could be helpful to further improve the model performance in describing the heterogeneity at the sub-grid scale. The sensitivities of the parameters suggested that the main uncertainties in the hydrology and C-flux models may be related to the control on the canopy resistance and the hummock-hollow structures. It also should be noted that the agreement of the modeled  $CH_4$  flux with the measured values was relatively weak in the pristine bogs. This may be due to the relatively strong variations of WT in the pristine bogs leading to a low  $CH_4$  oxidation stability. Thus, considering the water table's influence on the stability of the CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation may be helpful to improve the model's ability to predict the methane flux in ombrotrophic mires.

In the cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG, the hydrological tool captured well the variations in ET and the moisture content during the wet year (2009) and in the very dry

year (2010) (Article III). This finding implies that the model could account for the key hydrological processes in peatland ecosystems similar to the Linnansuo site. Based on the hydrological tool, the daily NEE simulated by the RCG-C model agreed well with the measured values during a six-year period (2005-2010) (Article IV). The total CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration simulated for the years 2005-2010 (638 g C m<sup>-2</sup>) was very close to that (643 g

C m<sup>-2</sup>) measured at the site. An increase in the peat layer thickness was also found to be in accordance with the measured changes. Therefore, RCG-C could be able to serve as a quantitative tool to simulate the  $CO_2$  flux in cutaway RCG peatlands similar to the Linnansuo site under varying climatic conditions.

#### 4.2 Evaluation of the simulation results

# 4.2.1 Climatic sensitivity of water table and C fluxes in pristine peatland ecosystems across Finland (Articles I & II)

The results showed that under the changing climate, the WT in the pristine peatlands decreased across Finland, with the relative decrease becoming more pronounced toward the end of the 21st century. This result suggests that the predicted increase in P was unlikely to offset the increase in water loss driven by the warming climate. Usually, climate change is thought to draw down WT by increasing *ET*, and such a change in WT is considered a key forcing in the C exchanges in boreal and subarctic peatlands (e.g., Gorham, 1991; Roulet et al., 1992; Ise et al., 2008). With the drawdown of WT, the reduction of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions is regarded as helpful in offsetting the increase in C-GHG emissions under the warming climate (e.g., Strack and Waddington, 2007; Lain et al., 2009).

The changes in ET and WT were found to be much weaker than those estimated previously. The small magnitudes of the changes in ET and WT may be due to the multiple water-energy feedbacks that exist among the water balance components and the "mismatch" of seasonal water-energy availabilities under the changing climate (Article I). Related to the low climatic sensitivity of WT, the changes in the CO<sub>2</sub> sink of the Finnish mires would be affected mainly by the *Ta* sensitivities of photosynthesis and respiration. Furthermore, the CH<sub>4</sub> source from the country-scale pristine peatlands was predicted to increase under the changing climate (Article II).

The climatic sensitivities of the WT and C exchanges in the pristine peatlands were also related to the mire type at the site. Compared with the pristine bogs, the WT is usually higher and the runoff events are more regular in the pristine fens (Lafleur, 1994; Price and Maloney, 1994). As a result, an increase in *ET* and a decrease in the recharge water from upstream ecosystems (see also Ge et al., 2010) is likely to lead to a greater drawdown of WT in the pristine fens compared with the pristine bogs, as found in this study (Article I). The significant drawdown of WT in southwestern Finland could decrease the strength of the CH<sub>4</sub> source in such areas under changing climate (Article II). On the other hand, the relatively low WT in the pristine bogs may lead to a strong methanotrophic effect and thus constrain the change in the CH<sub>4</sub> source of such ecosystems.

Compared with the pristine fens, the peat of the pristine bogs could be more easily heated up under the increase in Ta, whereas the increase in NPP was more limited. The relatively low Ta-sensitivity of NPP in the bogs may be due to the ombrotrophic condition and tight N-cycle in such ecosystems. Such fen-bog differences are likely to contribute to a greater decrease in NEE in the pristine bogs than in the pristine fens. However, the results

showed that the *Ta*-sensitivity of NEE in the pristine fens was similar to that in the pristine bogs (Article II), which may be due to the low N availability and the low decomposability of plant litters (Limpens et al., 2006). This effect tends to constrain the enhancement of decomposition under the warming climate. Because the NEE in the bogs was relatively lower than that in the fens, the loss of SOM in the bogs could be faster at the annual level than in the fens. The decreasing stock of labile SOM could, in turn, limit the decomposition in the long run. As a result, the NEE in the bogs would be less sensitive to climate change than in the fens at a centurial timeframe, although the climatic sensitivity of the NEE in the fens would be greater than that in the bogs at a decadal scale (Article II).

The simulations indicated that both the climatic gradient and the mire-type pattern would strongly affect the spatiality of the C-water responses to the changing climate at regional scales. Compared with the southwestern parts of Finland, the drawdown of WT was relatively weak in northern Finland because the greater *P* increase there could partially offset the WT drawdown (Article I). This would enable the pristine fens, which are common in northern Finland, to act as greater CH<sub>4</sub> sources under the changing climate. On the other hand, the climate is warmer and the estimated WT drawdown would be greater in peatlands in the southern parts of Finland. This would yield a greater decrease in the CO<sub>2</sub> sink in the south than in the north under the warming climate (Article II). The dominance of bogs in southern Finland may, to some extent, mitigate such a change in the C sink during the second half of this century. This is because the long-term *Ta* sensitivity of C sequestration would be lower in the bogs than that in the fens. In general, the pristine Finlinsh peatlands may persist as CO<sub>2</sub> sinks under climate change during the 21st century. However, the total CO<sub>2</sub> sink equilibrium would decrease by 68% (Article II).

# 4.2.2 Climatic sensitivities of hydrology and C fluxes in a cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG (Articles III & IV)

The results of this study showed that anthropogenic disturbances such as drainage, peat extraction and RCG cultivation, may critically change the C-water processes in the boreal peatlands. The seasonal variation of the moisture content of peat in the Linnansuo site was weakly affected by the fluctuation of WT. On the other hand, the capillary rise of water from WT was found to contribute marginally to the water-storage changes in the unsaturated peat during both the wet year (2009) and the dry year (2010) (Article III). These findings are counter to many previous findings representing undrained and drained organic soils, emphasizing that the position of the WT and the capillary water rise critically influence the water exchanges in the unsaturated soil (e.g., Price, 1991; Lafleur and Roulet, 1992; Schwärzel et al., 2006; Price and Ketcheson, 2009). Such a change in the soil hydrology in the Linnansuo site could be due to the intensive drainage and the changes in the hydraulic properties of unsaturated soil, which facilitated the downward gravity drainage of pore water but constrained the upward capillary flows from the WT (Article III). As a result, the seasonal variations of the peat moisture content in such a peatland could be driven mainly by the *P*-*ET* balance, particularly by the regularity of summer rainfalls. This finding implies that WT may not be among the key factors mediating the C-water responses to climate change in boreal peatlands similar to the Linnansuo site. In addition, peatland models based on diplotelmic hydrology may not be applicable to the simulation of C exchanges under the changing climate in such ecosystems.

The strong influence of WT on capillary rise and root-zone moisture content are essential to the self-regulatory features of the peatland WT and C balance under climatic

forcing (Price and Ketcheson, 2009; Morris et al., 2011b). This is the case especially for pristine boreal mires, where the variability of annual NEE depends more on the decomposition than the productivity of plant biomass (Alm et al., 2007; Vourlitis and Oechel, 1999). However, such adaptive features could be largely absent in a cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG (Article III). Drought pressure could severely limit the photosynthetic efficiency (e.g.,  $V_{max}$ ,  $J_{max}$ ) and LAI of RCG (Ge et al., 2012; Xiao et al., 2011) and depress the GPP, which mainly controls the NEE in such an ecosystem (Shurpali et al., 2010). In this study, the  $V_{max}$  and  $J_{max}$  values and the temperature sum required by the phenological cycle did not clearly differ between the wet year (2009) and the very dry year (2010) (Article IV). This may be due to the adaptive feature of the RCG phenology, which allows fast vegetative growth during the spring season when the soil is wet and the *ET* demand is relatively low. As a result, the drought influences on the canopy growth can be minimized and the potential of photosynthesis can be maximized during the period when the irradiance and *Ta* are most favorable.

The sensitivity analysis showed a low sensitivity of NEE in the Linnansuo site to the P changes due to climate change (Article IV). This may be due to the weak changes in the summer P, the adaptive feature of GPP to the variations in wet-dry summers and the increase in N leaching associated with the increase in P. Increasing  $C_a$  could enhance the CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration cumulatively via accelerating the accumulation of rhizome biomass. However, the predicted increase in Ta would deteriorate the rhizome growth, limit the canopy development and GPP and lead to further deterioration. During Period III (2060-2099), the Ta effect was found to offset the  $C_a$  effect, causing the CO<sub>2</sub> sink of the Linnansuo site to decrease by 63% - 87% at an annual rate of 13 - 27 g C m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Article IV). These values are comparable to the mean annual CO<sub>2</sub> sinks estimated for the pristine mires in the neighboring areas (Figure 3 B and D). Because climate change would decrease the CO<sub>2</sub> sinks more in Period III than in Periods I and II (Article II), the Linnansuo site would become an even stronger CO<sub>2</sub> sink than those in the pristine mires. In addition, the CH<sub>4</sub> emission from the RCG peatland (approximately 0.33 g m<sup>-2</sup> a<sup>-1</sup>, Hyvönen et al., 2009) was much lower than the values measured from the pristine mires in this region (e.g., Nykänen et al., 1998). Therefore, RCG cultivation could be a suitable way to restore C sinks in cutaway peatlands similar to the Linnansuo site under climate change, while supporting the biomass demand for bioenergy production.

#### 4.3 Conclusions

In this study, a series of process-based models were developed to investigate the climatic sensitivities of hydrology and C exchanges in pristine mires and cutaway peatlands under RCG cultivation in Finland. For pristine peatland ecosystems, the models highlighted the close relationship between the dynamics of WT and  $CO_2$  / CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes and the fen-bog differences in C-water cycling. Based on the ACCLIM climate scenarios for the 21st century, the WT of the Finnish pristine mires was predicted to draw down slightly, as constrained by multiple water-energy feedbacks in the ecosystems. Such a small change in WT would be related to a decrease in the CO<sub>2</sub> sink but an increase in the CH<sub>4</sub> source in the country-scale peatlands driven mainly by the rising *Ta*. These responses of  $CO_2$  / CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes are likely to decrease the total C-GHG sink by 68% at the country scale. The WT drawdown tends to be more pronounced in the peatlands in the southern and western areas of the country. Accordingly, the CH<sub>4</sub> emission and the CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration tended to

decrease significantly in these areas. The mire-type pattern also strongly affected the spatial variation of the regional C-flux changes. The major distribution of fens in northern Finland would increase  $CH_4$  emissions at the country scale. On the other hand, the majority of pristine fens in the south and the west of Finland and the pristine bogs near the coastal areas would become centurial C sources under the changing climate. Because the C exchange in bogs is less sensitive to climate change than that in fens over the long term, the dominance of bogs in the pristine peatlands in southern Finland may limit the C-sink changes toward the end of the 21st century.

Peat extraction and RCG cultivation are likely to critically change the C-water cycling in boreal peatland ecosystems. WT is no longer a strong control on the root-zone moisture content in a cutaway peatland cultivated with RCG. Instead, the root-zone moisture content is highly sensitive to the regularity of summer rainfalls. The phenological cycle of RCG may represent an adaptive feature of such species to the stochasticity of summer precipitation. Climate change during Period III (2060-2099) tended to decrease the NEE by 63% - 87% for a main rotation period, mainly because of the deterioration in rhizome growth under the warmer climate. Nevertheless, the Linnansuo site could sustain a net  $CO_2$ sink comparable to the pristine mires in neighboring areas. Therefore, RCG cultivation could be a suitable way to restore C sinks in cutaway peatlands similar to the Linnansuo site under climate change and bioenergy production.

### REFERENCES

Admiral S.W., Lafleur P.M., Roulet N.T. (2006). Controls on latent heat flux and energy partitioning at a peat bog in eastern Canada. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 140, 308-321

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.017

- Alm J., Byrne K.A., Hayes C., Leifeld J., Shurpali N.J. (2011). Chapter 7: Greenhouse gas balance in disturbed peatlands. In: Soil carbon in sensitive European ecosystems: from sience to land management (eds Jandl R., Rdeghiero M., Olsson M.). John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, West Sussex, UK.
- Alm J., Shurpali N.J., Minkkinen K., Aro L., Hytönen J., Laurila T., Lohlla A., Maijanen M., Martikainen P.J., Mäkiranta P., Penttilä T., Saarnio S., Silvan N., Tuittila E-S., Laine J. (2007). Emission factors and their uncertainty for the exchange of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in Finnish managed peatlands. Boreal Environment Research 12: 191-209
- Asaeda T., Karunaratne S. (2000). Dynamic modelling of the growth of *Phragmites australis*: Model description. Aquatic Botany 67: 301–318 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3770(00)00095-4
- Aurela M., Laurila T., Tuovinen J.-P. (2002). Annual CO2 balance of a subarctic fen innorthern Europe: importance of the wintertime efflux. Journal of Geophysical Research 107: doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002055. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002055
- Belyea L., Baird A.J. (2006). Beyond "the limits to peat bog growth": Cross-scale feedback in peatland development. Ecological Monographs 76: 299-322 http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(2006)076[0299:BTLTPB]2.0.CO;2
- Beven K., Germann P. (1982). Macropores and water flow in soils. Water Resource Research 18: 1311-1325

http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/WR018i005p01311

- Bohn T.J., Lettenmaier D.P., Sathulur K., Bowling L.C., Podest E., McDonald K.C., Friborg T. (2007). Methane emissions from western Siberian wetlands: heterogeneity and sensitivity to climate change. Environmental Research Letters 2: 1-9 http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/2/4/045015
- Bridgham S.D., Updegraff K., Pastor J. (1998). Carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus mineralization in northern wetlands. Ecology 79: 1545-1561.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1998)079[1545:CNAPMI]2.0.CO;2

- Charman D.J. Peatland processes. (2002). In: Peatland and environmental change (eds Charman D.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 39–46.
- Chen J.M., Chen X.Y., Ju W.M., Geng X.Y. (2005). Distributed hydrological model for mapping evapotranspiration using remote sensing inputs. Journal of Hydrology 305: 15–39.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.08.029

Comer N.T., Lafleur P.M., Roulet N.T., Letts M.G., Skarupa M., Verseghy D. (2000). Atest of the Canadian Land Surface Scheme (CLASS) for a variety of wetland types. Atmosphere-Oceans 38: 161-179

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07055900.2000.9649644

Devito K., Creed I., Gan T., Mendoza C., Petrone R., Silins U., Smerdon B. (2005. A framework for broad-scale classification of hydrologic response units on the boreal plain: is topography the last thing to consider? Hydrological Processes 19: 1705–1714.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5881

- Dorrepaal E., Toet S., van Logtestijn R.S.P., Swart E., van de Weg M.J., Callaghan T.V., Aerts R. (2009). Carbon respiration from subsurface peat accelerated by climate warming in the subarctic. Nature 460, 616-619. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature08216
- Farquhar G.D., von Caemmerer S., Berry J.A. (1980). A biochemical model of photosynthesis CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation in leaves of C<sub>3</sub> plants. Planta 149: 79-90 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00386231
- Frolking S., Roulet N.T., Moore T.R., Richard P.J.H., Lavoie M., Muller S.D. (2001). Modelling northern peatland decomposition and peat accumulation. Ecosystems 4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0105-1
- Frolking S., Roulet N.T., Moore T.R., Lafleur P.M., Bubier J.L., Crill P.M. (2002). Modelling seasonal to annual carbon balance of Mer Bleue Bog, Ontario, Canada. Global Biochemical Cycles 16.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2001GB001457

Ge Z., Xiao Z., Kellomäki S., Wang K., Peltola H., Väisänen H., Strandman H. (2010). Effects of changing climate on water and nitrogen availability with implications on the productivity of Norway spruce stands in Southern Finland. Ecological Modelling 221:1731–43.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.03.017

- Ge Z., Xiao Z., Kellomäki S., Zhang C., Peltola H., Martikainen P.J., Wang K-Y. (2012). Acclimation of photosynthesis in a boreal grass (*Phalaris arundinacea L.*) under different temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, and soil water regimes. Photosynthetica 50: 141-151 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11099-012-0014-x
- Gorham E. (1991). Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. Ecological Applications 1:182–95. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1941811
- Govind A., Chen J.M., Bernier P., Margolis H., Guindon L., Beaudoin A. (2011). Spatial distributed modeling of the long-term carbon balance of a boreal landscape. Ecological Modelling 222: 2780-2795

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.04.007

- Gnatowski T., Szatylowicz J., Brandyk T. (2002). Effect of peat decomposition on the capillary rise in peat-moorsh soils from the Biebrza River Valley. International Agrophysics 16: 97-102
- Hobbie S.E. (1995). Direct and indirect species effects on biogeochemical processes in arctic ecosystems. In: Arctic and alpine biodiversity: patterns, causes and ecosystem consequences (eds Chapin F.S.III, Körner C.) Springer-Verlag, Berlin, p. 213-224
- Hyvönen, N.P., Huttunen, J.T., Shurpali, N.J., Tavi N.M., Repo M.E., Martikainen P.J. (2009). Fluxes of nitrous oxide and methane on an abandoned peat extraction site: Effect of reed canary grass cultivation. Bioresource Technology 100: 4723-4730 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.04.043
- Hyvönen, N.P., Huttunen, J.T., Shurpali, N.J., Lind, S.E., Marushchak, M.E., Heitto, L., Martikainen, P.J. (2013). The role of drainage ditches in greenhouse gas emissions and surface leaching losses from a cutaway peatland cultivated with a perennial bioenergy crop. Boreal Environment Research 18: In print
- Ingram H.A.P. (1983). Hydrology. In: Mires: swamp, bog, fen and moor (ed Gore A.J.P.). New York: Elsevier Scientific; p. 67–158.

Ingram H.A.P. (1987). Soil layers in mires: function and terminology. Journal of Soil Science 29: 224-227

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1978.tb02053.x

Ise T., Dunn A.L., Wofsy S.C., Moorecroft P.R. (2008). High sensitivity of peat decomposition to climate change through water-table feedback. Nature Geoscience 1: 763-766

http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ngeo331

- Jylhä K., Ruosteenoja K., Räisänen J., Venäläinen A., Tuomenvirta H., Ruokolainen L., Saku S., Seitola T. (2009). The changing climate in Finland: estimates for adaptation studies. ACCLIM project report, Finnish Meteorological Institute. Reports 2009:4
- Koivusalo H., Ahti E., Laurén A., Kokkonen T., Karvonen T., Nevalainen R., Finér L. (2008). Impacts of ditch cleaning on hydrological processes in a drained peatland forest. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 12:1211–27. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/hess-12-1211-2008
- Kuzyakov Y., Friedel J.K., Stahr K. (2000). Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32: 1485-1498 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00084-5
- Lafleur P.M. (1994). Annual variability in summer evapotranspiration and water balance at a subarctic forest site. Nordic Hydrology 25. doi:10.2166/nh.1994.021
- Lafleur P.M., Roulet N.T. (1992). A comparison of evaporation rates from two fens of the Hudson Bay Lowland, Aquatic Botany 44: 55–69.
- Laine A.M., Byrne K.A., Kiely G., Tuittila E.-S. (2009). The short-term effect of altered water level on carbon dioxide and methane fluxes in a blanket bog. Suo 60: 65-83
- Laine J., Silvola J., Tolonen K., Alm J., Nykänen H., Vasander H., Sallantaus T., Savolainen I., Sinisalo J., Martikainen P.J. (1996). Effect of water-level drawdown in northern peatlands on the global climatic warming. Ambio 25:179–184
- Letts M.G., Roulet N.T., Comer N.T., Skarupa M.R., Verseghy D.L. (2000). Parameterization of peatland hydraulic properties for the Canadian Land Surface Scheme. Atmosphere-Oceans 38: 141-160

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07055900.2000.9649643

Lewandowski I., Scurlock J.M.O., Lindvall E., Christou M. 2003. The development and current status of perennial rhizomatous grasses as energy crops in the US and Europe. Biomass and Bioenergy 25: 335–361

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(03)00030-8

- Limpens J., Heijmans M.M.P.D., Berendse F. 2006. Nitrogen in peatlands, in: Boreal peatland ecosystems (eds Wieder R.K., Vitt D.H.) Ecological Studies Series, Springer Verlag, Berlin, p 195–230.
- Minkkinen K., Korhonen R., Savolainen I., Laine J. (2002). Carbon balance and radiative forcing of Finnish peatlands 1900-2100 – the impact of forest drainage. Global Change Biology 8: 785-799

http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00504.x

- Mäkiranta P., Hytönen J., Aro L., Maljanen M., Pihlatie M., Potila H., Shurpali N.J., Laine J., Lohila A., Martikainen P.J., Minkkinen K. (2007). Soil greenhouse gas emissions from afforested organic soil croplands and cutaway peatlands. Boreal Environment Research 12, 159–175.
- Maljanen M., Sigurdsson B.D., Guðmundsson J., Óskarsson H., Huttunen J.T., Martikainen P.J. (2010). Greenhouse gas balances of managed peatlands in the Nordic countries present knowledge and gaps. Biogeosciences, 7: 2711–2738

http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-2711-2010

- Moore T.R., Roulet N.T., Waddington J.M. (1998). Uncertainty in predicting the effect of climatic change on the carbon cycling of Canadian peatlands. Climatic Change 40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1005408719297
- Morris P.J., Waddington J.M., Benscoter B.W., Turetsky M.R. (2011)a. Conceptual frameworks in peatland ecohydrology: looking beyond the two-layered (acrotelmcatotelm) model. Ecohydrology 4: 1-11

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eco.191

- Morris P.J., Belyea L.R., Baird A.J. (2011)b. Ecohydrological feedbacks in peatland development: a theoretical modelling study. Journal of Ecology 99: 1190-1201 http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01842.x
- Nungesser M.K. (2003). Modelling microtopography in boreal peatlands: hommocks and hollows. Ecological Modelling 165: 175-207

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(03)00067-X

- Nykänen H., Alm J., Silvola J., Tolonen K., Martikainen P.J. (1998). Methane fluxes on boreal peatlands of different fertility and the effect of long-term experimental lowering of the water table on flux rates. Global Biogeochem Cycles 12:53-69 http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/97GB02732
- Nykänen H., Alm J., Läng K., Silvola J., Martikainen P.J. (1995). Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. Journal of Biogeography 22: 351–357.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2845930

- Okruszko, H., Ilnicki, P. (2003). The moorsh horizons as quality indicators of reclaimed organic soils, pp. 1-14. In: Organic soils and peat materials for sustainable agriculture (eds Parent L-E., Ilnicki P.) CRC Press, Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington, D.C.
- Price J., Ketcheson S.J. (2009). Water retention in cutover peatlands. In: Carbon Cycling in Northern Peatlands (eds Baird A.J., Belyea L.R., Comas X., Reeve A.S., Slater L.D). Geophysical Monograph Series 184; American Geophysical Union, Washington DC. 299pp.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2008GM000827

- Price J., Maloney D.A. (1994). Hydrology of a patterned bog-fen complex in southeastern Labrador, Canada. Nordic Hydrology 25:313–30.
- Price J. (1997). Soil moisture, water retention, and water table relationships in a managed cutover bog. Journal of Hydrology 202: 21-32

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(97)00037-1

- Price J.S. (1991). Evaporation from a blanket bog in a foggy coastal environment. Boundary Layer Meteorology 57: 391–406 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00120056
- Price J.S., Whitehead G.S. (2004). The influence of past and present hydrological conditions on Sphagnum recolonization and succession in a block-cut bog, Quebec. Hydrological Processes 18: 315–328 http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hyp.1377
- Prowse T.D., Wrona F.J., Reist J.D., Gibson J.J., Hobbie J.E., Lévesque L.M.J., Vincent W.F. (2006). Climate change effects on hydroecology of arctic freshwater ecosystems. Ambio 35(7): 347-358

http://dx.doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2006)35[347:CCEOHO]2.0.CO;2

- Raddatz R.L., Papakyriakou T.N., Swystun K.A., Tenuta M. (2009). Evapotranspiration from a wetland tundra sedge fen: Surface resistance of peat for land-surface schemes. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 149:851–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.11.003
- Repola J. (2009). Biomass equations for Scots pine and Norway spruce in Finland. Silva Fennica 43: 625–647.
- Roulet N.T., Moore T.R., Bubier J., Lafleur P. (1992). Northern fens: methane flux and climatic change. Tellus 44B: 100-105.
- Rouse W.R. (1998). A water balance model for a subarctic sedge fen and its application to climatic change. Climate Change 38:207–34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1005358017894
- Schlotzhauer S.M., Price J. (1999). Soil water flow dynamics in a managed cutover peat field, Quebec: Field and laboratory investigations. Water Resource Research 35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/1999WR900126
- Shannon R.D., White J.R. (1994). A three-year study of controls on methane emissions from two Michigan peatlands. Journal of Ecology 84: 239–46 http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2261359
- Shurpali, N.J., Biasi, C., Jokinen, S., Hyvönen, N., Martikainen, P.J. (2013). Linking water vapor and CO<sub>2</sub> exchange from a perennial bioenergy crop on a drained organic soil in eastern Finland. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 168: 47–58 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.08.006
- Shurpali, N.J., Hyvönen, N.P., Huttunen, J.T., Clement, R.J., Reichstein, M., Nykänen, H., Martikainen, P.J. (2009). Cultivation of a perennial grass for bioenergy on a boreal organic soil – carbon sink or source? GCB Bioenergy 1: 35–50 http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2009.01003.x
- Shurpali, N.J., Hyvönen, N.P., Huttunen, J.T., Biasi, C., Nykänen, H., Pekkarinen, N., Martikainen, P.J., 2008. Bare soil and reed canary grass ecosystem respiration in peat extraction sites in Eastern Finland. Tellus B 60(2): 200–209 http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00325.x
- Shurpali, N.J., Strandman, H., Kilpeläinen, A., Huttunen, J., Hyvönen, N., Biasi, C., Kellomäki, S., Martikainen, P.J. (2010). Atmospheric impact of bioenergy based on perennial crop (reed canary grass, *Phalaris arundinaceae*, L.) cultivation on a drained boreal organic soil. GCB Bioenergy 2: 130–138
- Siegel D.I., Glaser P.H. (2006). The hydrology of peatlands. In: Boreal peatland ecosystems (eds Wieder R.K., Vitt D.H.). Berlin Heidelberg: Springer. p. 289–311. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-31913-9\_13
- Spieksma J.F.M., Moors E.J., Dolman A.J., Schouwenaars J.M. (1997). Modelling evaporation from a drained and rewetted peatland. Journal of Hydrology 199:252–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(96)03337-9
- St-Hilaire F., Wu J., Roulet N.T., Frolking S., Lafleur P.M., Humphreys E.R., Arora V. (2010). McGill wetland model: evaluation of a peatland carbon simulator developed for global assessments. Biogeosciences 7: 3517–3530. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-3517-2010
- Strack M., Waddington J.M. (2007). Response of peatland carbon dioxide and methane fluxes to a water table drawdown experiment. Global Biogeochemical Cycles. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2006GB002715

- Schwärzel K., Šimůnek J., van Genuchten M.T., Wessolek G. (2006). Measurement modeling of soil-water dynamics evapotranspiration of drained peatland soils. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 169: 762-774 http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200621992
- Tague C, Band L. (2004). RHESSys: Regional Hydro-ecologic simulation system: An object-oriented approach to spatially distributed modeling of carbon, water and nutrient cycling. Earth Interactions 8 19-42

http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/1087-3562(2004)8<1:RRHSSO>2.0.CO;2

- Tavi N.M., Keinänen-Toivola M.M., Koponen H.T., Huttunen J.T., Kekki T.K., Biasi C., Martikainen P.J. 2010. Impact of *Phragmites australis* cultivation on microbial community of a cutover peatland. Boreal Environment Research 15: 437 - 445
- Turunen J., Tomppo E., Tolonen K., Reinikainen A. (2002). Estimating carbon accumulation rates of undrained mires in Finland – application to boreal and subactic regions. The Holocene 12: 69-80
- Turunen J. (2008). Development of Finnish peatland area and carbon storage 1950-2000. Boreal Environment Research 13: 319 – 334 http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/0959683602hl522rp
- Updegraff K., Bridgham S.D., Pastor J., Weishampel P., Harth C. (2001). Ecosystem respiration response to warming and water-table manipulations in peatland mesocosms. Ecological Applications 11: 311–326.
- Waddington J.M., Price J.S. (2000). Effect of peatland drainage, harvesting, and restoration on atmospheric water and carbon exchange. Physical Geography 21: 433–451.
- Walczak R., Rovdan E., Witkowska-Walczak B. (2002). Water retention characteristics of peat and sand mixtures. Int. Agrophysics 16: 161-165
- Weltzin J.F., Pastor J., Harth C., Bridgham S.D., Updegraff K., Chapin C.T. (2000). Response of bog and fen plant communities to warming and water-table manipulations. Ecology 81: 3464-3478

http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[3464:ROBAFP]2.0.CO;2

Weiss R., Shurpali N.J., Sallantaus T., Laiho R., Laine J., Almb J. (2006). Simulation of water table level and peat temperatures in boreal peatlands. Ecological Modelling 192:441–56.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.07.016

White J.R., Shannon R.D., Weltzin J.F., Pastor J. (2008). Effects of soil warming and drying on methane cycling in a northern peatland mesocosm study. Journal of Geophysical Research 113.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2007JG000609

Wieder R.K., Vitt D.H., Benscoter B.W. (2006). Peatlands and the Boreal forest. In: Boreal Peatland Ecosystems, Ecological Studies 188 (eds Wieder RK, Vitt DH), pp. 1-8. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-31913-9

- Xiong S., Kätterer T. (2010). Carbon-allocation dynamics in reed canary grass as affected by soil type and fertilization rates in northern Sweden. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B - Soil and Plant Science 60: 24-32 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09064710802558518
- Yli-Petäys M., Laine J., Vasander H., Tuittila E.-S. (2007). Carbon gas exchange of a revegetated cut-away peatland five decades after abandonment, Boreal Environment Research 12: 177–190

- Yu Z., Beilman D.W., Jones M.C. (2009). Sensitivity of northern peatland carbon dynamics to Holocene climate change. In: Carbon Cycling in Northern Peatlands, Geophysical Monograph Series 184 (eds Baird A.J., Belyea L.R., Comas X., Reeve A.S., Slater L.D.), pp. 55-69. AGU, Washington, D. C., U.S. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2008GM000822
- Zhang C., Kellomäki S., Gong J., Wang K, Ge Z., Zhou X., Strandman H. (2013). Impacts of elevated temperature and CO2 with varying ground water levels on the seasonality of the height and biomass growth of a boreal bio-energy crop (*Phalaris arundinacea* L.): a modeling study. Botany. In press.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjb-2012-0188

Zhang Y., Li C., Trettin C.C., Li H., Sun G. (2002). An integrated model of soil, hydrology, and vegetation for carbon dynamics in wetland ecosystems. Global Biogeochemical Cycle 16.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2001GB001838

Zhou, X., Ge, Z-M., Kellomäki, S., Wang, K-Y., Peltola, H., Martikainen, J.P. (2011). Effects of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature on leaf characteristics, photosynthesis and carbon storage in aboveground biomass of a boreal bioenergy crop (*Phalaris arundinacea* L.) under varying water regimes. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3: 223-234.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2010.01075.x